THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jul 07 2023

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Hon. Joe M. Crosby, Master-in-Equity

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2020-CP-22-00882

Appellate Case No. 2023- 000017

South Carolina Board of Financial Institutions, Appellant,

v.

CDM Corporation, Inc. and Guardian Fiduciary Services, LLC, Respondents.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

July 7, 2023

Shawn D. Eubanks (S.C. Bar No. 78370)
William J. Condon, Jr. (S.C. Bar No. 72632)
1200 Senate St., Suite 214
Wade Hampton Office Building
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 734-2623
shawn.eubanks@sto.sc.gov
bill.condon@sto.sc.gov

*Attorneys for Appellant South Carolina Board
of Financial Institutions*

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Master-in-Equity err when it defined the term “trust business,” as regulated by the Board of Financial Institutions pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 34-21-10, *et seq.*, to exclude serving as conservator, guardian, personal representative, or agent, when the context of the term in statute, as well as the usual and customary meaning of “trust business,” includes these fiduciary roles?
- II. Did the Master-in-Equity err in failing to give deference to the Board of Financial Institutions interpretation regarding the definition of “trust business” as used in S.C. Code Ann. § 34-21-10?
- III. Did the Master-in-Equity err in finding that the probate court “regulates” other fiduciaries, and that the Board of Financial Institutions cannot regulated entities serving in these capacities because the roles are “codified in the Probate Code?”
- IV. In the alternative, even if the Master-in-Equity is correct that trust business must involve the administration of a trust, did the Master-in-Equity err in holding that the fiduciary roles held by Respondent did not involve the administration of a trust, and therefore constitute unlawful trust business?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant South Carolina Board of Financial Institutions (“BOFI”) initiated this action against Respondents CDM Corporation, Inc. (“CDM”) and Guardian Fiduciary Services, LLC (“GFS”) (collectively, “Respondents”) in Circuit Court in Georgetown County on October 26, 2020. **(R. pp. 15-23)** (Complaint).

In its Complaint, BOFI alleged that Respondents were conducting unauthorized trust business in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 34-21-10, *et seq.*, by serving as trustee, conservator, guardian, personal representative, and agent, and by holding themselves out as offering these fiduciary services. Id. Respondents conceded that they had served or held themselves out as serving in all of these fiduciary roles, but counterclaimed, seeking declaratory judgment that “trust business” means serving as a trustee of a trust instrument, and that serving in other fiduciary roles did not constitute trust business, and could not be regulated by BOFI. **(R. pp. 24-35)** (Answer).

The case was referred to Hon. Joe M. Crosby, Master-in-Equity for Georgetown County, on March 11, 2022. **(R. pp. 1-3)** (Order of Reference). As the undisputed evidence proved that Respondents had served or held themselves out as serving in all of these fiduciary capacities, the parties filed opposing Motions for Summary Judgment on August 22, 2022. **(R. pp. 77-221)** (Motions for Summary Judgment).

The Master-in-Equity rendered his decision without a hearing, and issued an Order on November 3, 2022, partially granting each party’s motion. **(R. pp. 4-12)** (Summary Judgment Order). The Master-in-Equity found in favor of BOFI, holding that Respondents had conducted unauthorized trust business by serving as trustee, and that they must be enjoined from continuing to do so. Id. The Master-in-Equity found in favor of Respondents by holding that the “trust business” regulated by BOFI must involve a trust, and that Respondents’ serving as conservator,

guardian, personal representative, or agent did not constitute “trust business,” which would require BOFI’s prior written approval. Id. The Master-in-Equity further held that the “non-trustee” fiduciary roles are regulated by the probate courts and, therefore, BOFI cannot regulate entities serving in these capacities. Id.

BOFI timely filed a Motion for Partial Reconsideration, Alteration or Amendment on November 14, 2022, on the grounds that the Master-in-Equity’s narrow definition of “trust business” failed to acknowledge the language and context of the statute, as well as the ordinary and popular significance of that term, and also that the probate court’s jurisdiction in appointing certain fiduciaries did not contradict or negate BOFI’s regulation of entities serving as conservator, guardian, personal representative, or agent. **(R. pp. 222-260)** (Rule 59 Motion). BOFI also argued that its interpretation of the law, as articulated in its “Policy Statement Concerning the Conducting of Trust Business by Non-Depository Entities in South Carolina,” should have been given deference. Id.; **(R. pp. 100-102)** (Policy Statement).

In its Order dated December 20, 2022, the Master-in-Equity denied BOFI’s motion without a hearing. **(R. pp. 13-14)** (Rule 59 Order). By a Notice of Appeal filed and served on January 5, 2023, BOFI appealed the Master-in-Equity’s decision to this Court.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Per S.C. Code Ann. § 14-15-85, “When some or all of the causes of action in a case are referred to a master-in-equity... an appeal from an order or judgment of the master or referee must be to the Supreme Court or the court of appeals as provided by the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules.”

In the present case, the Respondents have admitted to the conduct alleged by BOFI, and there is no dispute as to the material facts. This case is purely a matter of statutory interpretation. Statutory interpretation is a question of law subject to de novo review. Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008). “The construction of a statute by the agency charged with its administration will be accorded the most respectful consideration and will not be overruled absent compelling reasons.” Dunton v. S.C. Bd. of Exam'rs In Optometry, 291 S.C. 221, 223, 353 S.E.2d 132, 133 (1987).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Board of Financial Institutions refers to both an agency of the State of South Carolina (“Agency”), and the eleven-member regulatory board (“Board”) which it serves (collectively “BOFI”). The Agency has two divisions: the Consumer Finance Division, and the Banking Division. The Banking Division, headed by the Commissioner of Banking, Kathy Bickham (formerly Richards H. Green), is tasked with the supervision of, among other types of financial institutions, “trust companies and fiduciary corporations.” S.C. Code Ann. § 34-21-20.

Respondent CDM is a domestic corporation located in Georgetown, South Carolina, co-owned by Stephen Mantell and his wife, Candida Mantell. Respondent GFS is a domestic limited liability company with Mr. Mantell as the sole member, also located in Georgetown.

At all times relevant to this, action Respondents have served as trustee¹, conservator, guardian, personal representative, and agent pursuant to a power of attorney, and held themselves out as offering these trust business services to the general public in this state.

Before a non-exempt entity conducts trust business in South Carolina, that entity must seek and obtain prior approval from the Board. Thereafter, entities conducting trust business are subject to regular examinations by BOFI. It has been BOFI’s longstanding position and statutory interpretation that an entity serving or offering to serve the general public as conservator, guardian, personal representative, or agent, conducts the trust business BOFI is obligated to license and regulate. (**R. p. 52**) (Green Aff. ¶ 6); see also (**R. pp. 100-102**) (Policy Statement).

¹ The undisputed evidence proves that Respondents served as trustee and held themselves out to the public as a trustee for hire; however, this activity has been properly enjoined by the trial court and is no longer at issue. The subject of this appeal is focused on Respondents’ serving as conservator, guardian, personal representative, and agent.

CDM admits that it serves as conservator, guardian, personal representative, and power of attorney for individuals in South Carolina. **(R. pp. 161-169)** (Pl. Resp. to Def. Req. to Admit). GFS also admits that it currently serves as guardian in South Carolina. Id. Both Respondents also admit that they hold themselves out to the public as providing the services of conservator, guardian, personal representative of an estate, and power of attorney. **(R. pp. 161-169)** (Pl. Resp. to Def. Req. to Admit). On and before the date this action was instituted, Respondents’ shared website held the companies out to the public as providing trust business, advertising the services of “power of attorney,” “personal representative,” “guardianship,” and “conservator.” **(R. p. 53)** (Green Aff., ¶ 10); see also **(R. pp. 161-169)** (Pl. Resp. to Def. Req. to Admit). The undisputed evidence and admissions in this case indicate that Respondents have conducted, and continue to conduct the following activities, any one of which constitute trust business requiring BOFI’s written approval prior to its undertaking:

| | GFS | CDM |
|--|-----|-----|
| Serves as Guardian | ✓ | ✓ |
| Held/holds itself out as Guardian | ✓ | ✓ |
| Serves as Conservator | | ✓ |
| Held/holds itself out as Conservator | ✓ | ✓ |
| Serves as Personal Representative of Estates | | ✓ |
| Held/holds itself out as Personal Representative of Estates | ✓ | ✓ |
| Serves as Attorney-in-fact pursuant to a Power of Attorney | | ✓ |
| Held/holds itself out as Agent pursuant to a Power of Attorney | ✓ | ✓ |

See **(R. pp. 161-169)** (Def. Resp. to Pl. Req. to Admit).

Despite conducting this extensive trust business, Respondents admit that they have never made a written application to the Board to conduct a trust business in South Carolina, nor have

they received written permission from the Board to conduct a trust business in South Carolina. (**R. pp. 161-163**) (Def. Resp. to Pl. Req. to Admit).

In light of Respondents' serving as trustee, conservator, guardian, personal representative, and agent, BOFI initiated this action to enjoin Respondents from serving in any of these capacities because Respondents' fiduciary activities constituted unlicensed and unauthorized trust business. (**R. pp. 50-54**) (Green Aff.). Pursuant to the Master-in-Equity's Summary Judgment Order, Respondents are now permanently enjoined from serving as a trustee of a trust; however, the Master-in-Equity declined to enjoin Respondents from serving as conservator, guardian, personal representative, and agent. (**R. pp. 4-12**) (Summary Judgment Order).

BOFI now seeks review from this Court to determine whether Respondents' remaining fiduciary activities of conservator, guardian, personal representative, and agent constitute unauthorized trust business, in violation of the law.

ARGUMENT

I. THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERRED WHEN IT DEFINED THE TERM “TRUST BUSINESS,” AS REGULATED BY THE BOARD OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. § 34-21-10, ET SEQ., TO EXCLUDE SERVING AS CONSERVATOR, GUARDIAN, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE, OR AGENT, BECAUSE THE CONTEXT OF THE TERM IN STATUTE, AS WELL AS THE USUAL AND CUSTOMARY MEANING OF “TRUST BUSINESS,” INCLUDES THESE FIDUCIARY ROLES.

The Master-in-Equity erred in holding that the “trust business” regulated by BOFI did not include serving as conservator, guardian, personal representative, and agent, and holding that Respondents’ serving in these capacities does not constitute “trust business” requiring BOFI’s prior written approval.

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 34-21-10,

No corporation, partnership or other person shall conduct a trust business in this State without first making a written application to the State Board of Bank Control² and receiving written approval from the Board... Provided, further, that nothing contained in this section shall prevent a natural person or a national banking association having its principal place of business in this State from qualifying and acting as trustee, executor, administrator, guardian, committee or in any other fiduciary capacity.

S.C. Code Ann. § 34-21-10 prohibits all entities, other than natural persons³ and national banks, from conducting “trust business” unless they have first obtained prior approval from BOFI’s Board.

As the Master-in-Equity’s Summary Judgment Order notes, the term “trust business” is not defined in statute, nor has the term been defined by South Carolina courts. However, based on the context of S.C Code Ann. § 34-21-10, *et seq.*, as well as numerous other statutory provisions, and

² The State Board of Bank Control is now the State Board of Financial Institutions.

³ Per the plain language of the statute, BOFI does not license or regulate individuals or “natural persons” serving in fiduciary roles. Natural persons are free to accept fiduciary appointments without any licensure or oversight from BOFI.

evidence showing the ordinary usage of the term, “trust business” refers to the undertaking of a broad range of fiduciary activities, including trustee, as well as other fiduciary roles⁴ such as personal representative, guardian, conservator, and agent pursuant to a power of attorney.

The Master-in-Equity erroneously held that the “trust business” which BOFI is obligated to license and oversee, is limited to “business involved with trusts,” and that BOFI does not have approval or regulatory authority over entities serving in other fiduciary roles. (**R. pp. 4-8**) (Summary Judgment Order). In defining “trust business,” the Master-in-Equity incorrectly cites the definition of a “trust” as set forth in the Probate Code (Title 62)— a definition which necessarily excludes other fiduciary arrangements in order to clearly define a trust instrument— despite the fact that this definition clearly purports to define a legal instrument rather a type of financial business, and furthermore serves only as a definition “in this Code” (i.e. the Probate Code). (**R. p. 6**) (Summary Judgment Order); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-201. In reaching this incorrect definition, the Master-in-Equity ignores ordinary and popular usage of the term “trust business,” as well as the context of the term in the Banking Code (Title 34), which, as discussed more thoroughly below, repeatedly and consistently includes references to fiduciary roles beyond trustee.

The Master-in-Equity’s interpretation of “trust business” fails when the rules of statutory construction are applied. Moreover, the Master-in-Equity’s decision renders numerous statutory provisions ambiguous or meaningless; whereas the application of a contextual, ordinary and popular meaning of trust business gives full effect to all applicable statutes.

⁴ For the sake of brevity, this brief refers to the roles of conservator, guardian, personal representative, and agent, collectively as “other fiduciary roles.” However, as discussed more fully in Section IV *infra*, there is no significant practical distinction between these roles and that of trustee.

a. When construed in context, the term “trust business” includes serving as conservator, guardian, personal representative, and agent.

The statutory context of the term “trust business” confirms that BOFI-regulated trust business includes acting not just as trustee, but also as conservator, guardian, personal representative, and agent. Serving in any one of these roles without BOFI’s prior written approval constitutes unauthorized and unlicensed trust business in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 34-21-10.

A statute must receive a practical and reasonable interpretation consistent with the “design” of the legislature. Smith v. S.C. Ins. Co., 350 S.C. 82, 87, 564 S.E.2d 358, 361 (Ct. App. 2002). “The terms must be construed in context and their meaning determined by looking at the other terms used in the statute.” Hinton v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole and Pardon Servs., 357 S.C. 327, 333, 592 S.E.2d 335, 338 (Ct. App. 2004). “[T]he court should not consider the particular clause being construed in isolation, but should read it in conjunction with the purpose of the whole statute and the policy of the law.” S.C. Coastal Council v. S.C. Ethics Comm’n, 306 S.C. 41, 44, 410 S.E.2d 245, 247 (1991). “A statute should be so construed that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous.” In re Decker, 322 S.C. 215, 219, 471 S.E.2d 462, 463 (1995).

When “construed in context... by looking at the other terms used in the statute,” (Hinton, 357 S.C. at 333), State law confirms that BOFI-regulated “trust business” extends beyond the administration of trust instruments alone, and includes all types of fiduciary appointments.

For example, S.C. Code Ann. § 34-21-10 declares no person shall conduct “trust business” without BOFI’s prior approval, but then provides an exception: this rule does not prevent a natural person or national bank “from qualifying and acting as trustee, executor, administrator, guardian, committee or in any other fiduciary capacity.” The inclusion of each of these fiduciary activities, listed to establish an exception to the requirement for trust business licensure, strongly implies if

not clearly conveys, that these activities would otherwise constitute trust business, if not undertaken by an exempt person. To view otherwise would render the final clause of this Section “surplusage or superfluous.” Decker, 322 S.C. at 219, 471 S.E.2d at 462 (1995).

Similarly, S.C. Code Ann. § 34-21-210, *et seq.*, sets forth rules, which BOFI enforces, regarding trust institutions’ administration of common trust funds. In this context, S.C. Code Ann. § 34-21-210(1) defines “trust institution” to include “...any trust company, authorized to act in a fiduciary capacity in this State... under the supervision of the Comptroller of the Currency of the United States, or the Federal Reserve System, or the State Board of Bank Control of South Carolina.” That same section defines “fiduciary” to include serving as “trustee, executor, administrator, guardian of estates, committee of estates of persons non compos mentis, and managing agent.” S.C. Code Ann. § 34-21-210(2). This Section echoes Section 34-21-10, confirming that trust companies must be “authorized” by BOFI to serve in the listed fiduciary roles.

Likewise, S.C. Code Ann. § 34-15-10 provides that a “trust company” must have at least \$250,000 in capital to serve as “executor of a will, codicil, or writing testamentary, administrator with the will annexed, administrator of the estate of any person, receiver, assignee, guardian or trustee under a will or instrument creating a trust for the care and management of property.” Here again, this Banking Code provision sets forth a rule regarding BOFI-regulated trust business which explicitly includes other fiduciary appointments.

Moreover, when a “trust company” is sold or merges, all of the powers and duties “regarding each fiduciary capacity or other relationship transferred, whether created by will, indenture, trust, court order, agreement, or other means,”—not just trust instruments— shall

transfer to the buyer or surviving entity. S.C. Code Ann. § 34-3-850. Again, the context of trust business indicates that BOFI's regulation and oversight includes fiduciary roles other than trustee.

When construed in context of the South Carolina Code provisions above, one must conclude that the terms "trust business," "trust institution," and "trust company" refer to serving as conservator, guardian, personal representative, agent and/or other fiduciary roles. See Hinton, 357 S.C. at 333, 502 S.E.2d at 338 (Ct. App. 2004). Such a reading "harmonizes with its subject matter and accords with its general purpose." Id. If serving in fiduciary roles beyond trustee does not constitute "trust business" or the work of a "trust company" or "trust institution," then other fiduciary roles would not be listed repeatedly, by name, in connection with it, and the rules for serving in these roles would not be articulated in the Banking Code for BOFI to enforce.

Rather than using the definition of a trust instrument set forth in the Probate Code, a more fitting definition of the word "trust" in "trust business" refers to the "the obligation or responsibility imposed on a person in whom confidence or authority is placed: a position of trust." www.dictionary.com/browse/trust. In the banking industry, "trust business" refers broadly to this "position of trust" – the trust relationship inherent in fiduciary arrangements. In fact, Black's Law Dictionary's definition of "trust relationship" equates a trust relationship with a fiduciary relationship: "An association based on one person's reliance on the other person's specialized training; esp., FIDUCIARY RELATIONSHIP. — Also termed fiducial relationship." Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019).

Applying this definition of "trust business" to the language of Title 34 relieves the tension and contradiction created by the Master-in-Equity's narrow rendering. When "trust business" is defined as serving as a hired fiduciary, there is no longer a question of why the prohibition on unauthorized trust business in Section 34-21-10 would exempt certain persons from BOFI's

approval prior to qualifying and acting in other roles such as “executor, administrator, guardian, committee or in any other fiduciary capacity,” rather than just “trustee.” There is no longer a question of why a “trust institution” must be authorized by BOFI to serve as “executor, administrator, guardian of estates, committee of estates of persons non compos mentis, and managing agent,” rather than just “trustee.” S.C. Code Ann. § 34-21-210(1) and (2). The inclusion of business capital requirements for trust companies serving as conservator, guardian, and personal representative is no longer confounding. S.C. Code Ann. § 34-15-10.

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