THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Joe M. Crosby  
Master-in-Equity

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-000017

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jul 07 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

South Carolina Board of Financial Institutions ..... Appellant,

v.

CDM Corporation, Inc., and Guardian Fiduciary Services, LLC ..... Respondents.

---

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF.

---

WOMBLE BOND DICKINSON (US) LLP

M. Todd Carroll  
S.C. Bar No. 74000  
todd.carroll@wbd-us.com  
1221 Main Street, Suite 1600  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
803.454.6504

Molly M. McDermid  
S.C. Bar No. 104695  
molly.mcdermid@wbd-us.com

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

But the General Assembly did not identify any type of fiduciary beyond “trusts” when shaping the scope of the Board’s authority. When a statute specifically includes one item, courts construe the law to necessarily exclude all other items that the legislature did not include. *See Hodges*, 341 S.C. at 86, 533 S.E.2d at 582 (“The canon of construction ‘*expressio unius est exclusio alterius*’ or ‘*inclusio unius est exclusio alterius*’ holds that ‘to express or include one thing implies the exclusion of another, or of the alternative.’” (quoting Black’s Law Dictionary 602 (7th ed. 1999))).

This understanding is reinforced by the very next section of the State Banking Code. While Section 34-21-10 directs companies engaged in a “trust business” to register with the Board, Section 34-21-20 authorizes the Board to examine and regulate “trust companies, and fiduciary corporations authorized to conduct trust business.” Through Section 34-21-20, the General Assembly explicitly recognized that there are “fiduciary corporations” who are not engaged in “trust business,” and it did not include them within the scope of the Board’s authority.

And this understanding is reinforced by the Probate Code as well, where the Legislature specifically distinguished among the various types of fiduciaries. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-201(49) (defining “trust” for purposes of the Probate Code and providing that the term “excludes”

certain categories of fiduciary, including *inter alia* conservatorships, personal representatives, certain custodial arrangements, “and any arrangement under which a person is nominee or escrowee for another”).

In short, if the Legislature intended for the Board to regulate fiduciaries who are not administering trusts, it could have, and would have, expressly delegated that power. In fact, Pages 19 and 20 of the Board’s brief list several states where other legislatures passed laws that give bank regulators authority far beyond regulating only “trusts.” But the South Carolina General Assembly did not, and—as a matter of law—it expressly excluded fiduciary companies and other non-fiduciary roles from the scope of the Board’s authority under Section 34-21-10.

**Agencies are Limited as Creatures of Statute.** Further confirming Judge Crosby’s plain-language reading of the phrase “trust business” is the fact that this statute is a limitation on a state agency’s authority. Because the Board is created by the General Assembly, it only has the powers the Legislature gives to it. *See, e.g., Med. Soc’y v. MUSC*, 334 S.C. 270, 275, 513 S.E.2d 352, 355 (1999) (holding that the MUSC Board of Trustees did not have “the power to dispose of real or personal property” because “[a]n agency created by statute has only the authority granted it by the legislature,” and there was no such authority expressly stated in the State Code). Accordingly, courts “are bound to strictly construe the terms of the statute and to rely on the General Assembly to amend the statute where necessary.” *Brown v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 354 S.C. 436, 441, 581 S.E.2d 836, 838 (2003).

This principle applies with full force here. The Board was created to “supervise all **banks and building and loan associations** and provide regulations and instructions for the direction, control and protection of all such institutions, the conservation of their assets and the liquidation thereof, as may be necessary or proper to effectuate the purposes of this Title.” S.C. Code Ann.

§ 34-1-60 (emphasis added). CDM and Guardian are certainly not “banks” or “building and loan associations.” If the Board’s authority is truly intended to reach beyond these types of businesses, and if the Board is truly supposed to have the wide jurisdiction that it claims in this case, then the General Assembly—not the Board, and not the Judiciary—must be the one to make that clear.

In support of its overreaching position, the Board dedicates an entire section of its opening brief—Section II—to arguing that courts are required to defer to an agency’s “interpretation” of a statute. That vastly overstates the law. Deference may be given when a statute is silent, but not when, as here, the agency’s position is squarely contrary to the statute’s plain language. *See, e.g., Jack’s Custom Cycles, Inc. v. S.C. DOR*, Op. No. 5970 (S.C. Ct. App. Apr. 26, 2023) (Howard Adv.Sh. No. 16, at 33) (“While this court typically defers to the agency’s interpretation of an applicable statute, we will reject its interpretation where the plain language of the statute is contrary to the agency’s interpretation.”).

In a recent concurring opinion, Justice Kittredge gave a stern warning against blindly accepting the type of jurisdiction-expanding argument the Board presents here: “In South Carolina, to preserve some semblance of the separation of powers we once held sacred, an administrative agency may not make law without legislative oversight and approval.” *Joseph v. S.C. LLR*, 417 S.C. 436, 461, 790 S.E.2d 763, 777 (2016) (Kittredge, J., concurring). He further observed: “[S]urely one thing no agency can do is apply the wrong law to citizens who come before it, especially when the right law would appear to support the citizen and not the agency. . . . An agency decision . . . that loses track of its own controlling regulations and applies the wrong rules in order to penalize private citizens can never stand.” *Id.* at 461, 790 S.E.2d at 776 (quoting *Caring Hearts Pers. Home Servs., Inc. v. Burwell*, 824 F.3d 968, 977 (10th Cir. 2016)) (cleaned up).

Justice Kittredge’s scolding of “the so-called Fourth Branch of government,” *id.* at 465, 790 S.E.2d at 778, is especially relevant in this case, as the Board issued “written guidance” ***during litigation before the circuit court*** on which it now relies as some type of legal authority that binds this Court. (R. p. 100; Board’s “Policy Statement,” cited on Pages 21–23 of the Board’s Brief.) This is remarkable overreach by the agency.

If the Board intends for its self-serving, mid-litigation “Policy Statement” to have the force of law, then it must attempt to promulgate that “Policy Statement” as a regulation in compliance with the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act. *See Joseph*, 417 S.C. at 453, 790 S.E.2d at 772 (“[W]e hold that the Board’s adoption of the 2011 Position Statement violates the requirements of the APA.”).<sup>2</sup> Otherwise, the “Policy Statement” carries no more weight than any other extra-judicial writing by any other litigant in any other case.

Worse yet, the “Policy Statement” adds nothing but confusion to the issue. In it, the Board opines that the term “trust business” extends to several non-trustee roles, but then it adds:

In addition to these explicitly defined fiduciary roles, the Board acknowledges that there exists a broad range of fiduciary activities which might constitute conducting trust business. This guidance does not constitute a comprehensive list of activities which constitute trust business. The Board strongly advises entities to contact the Office of the Commission of Banking with questions regarding whether specific activities constitute conducting trust business.

---

<sup>2</sup> Even then, the “Policy Statement” would fail as a matter of law, as an agency cannot use the rulemaking process to alter—or, as here, expand—its statutory authority. *See, e.g., Sanford v. S.C. State Ethics Comm’n*, 385 S.C. 483, 499, 685 S.E.2d 600, 608–09 (2009) (striking a regulation of the State Ethics Commission to the extent it was more restrictive than the statutes that governed what agency materials could be made public); *Society of Professional Journalists v. Sexton*, 283 S.C. 563, 567, 324 S.E.2d 313, 315 (1984) (striking as “invalid and repugnant to FOIA” a DHEC regulation that attempted to limit the class of persons who could obtain a death certificate and reiterating that “[a]mending FOIA to restrict the class of persons to whom DHEC must furnish death certificates is a legislative function,” not something that can be done by an agency itself).

(R. p. 100; Board “Policy Statement,” at 2.) The agency’s “we’ll know it when we see it, and you’ll know it when we tell you” approach would be entirely unworkable and underscores why Judge Crosby’s straightforward reading of the phrase “trust business”—“a business involved with the administration of trusts”—is correct. (R. p. 4; Order at 5.) Accordingly, the Court should reject the agency’s arguments and affirm the circuit court’s opinion.

### **III. Companies performing fiduciary tasks unrelated to administering trusts are regulated by both the Probate Court and the common law.**

An overarching theme of the Board’s argument is that someone, somewhere must be able to monitor how fiduciaries conduct themselves. Even though the Board is tasked with regulating banking and has no skills, expertise, or jurisdiction with respect to, say, protecting patients in comas, drug-addicted minors, or mentally-ill persons—who are among CDM and Guardian’s clients (R. p. 199; Mantell Aff. ¶¶ 8–9)—the agency urges the Court to deem it the clearinghouse for any entity that provides any type of fiduciary services in South Carolina. (Board Br. at 23–29.)<sup>3</sup> And it supports this request by using ominous rhetoric, such as pointing out that Mr. Mantell “utiliz[es] the names and corporate veils of both CDM Corporation and Guardian Fiduciary Services” when accepting fiduciary appointments from the Probate Court. (*Id.* at 28.)<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> The fact that CDM and Guardian provide fiduciary services such as these when called upon by South Carolina lawyers and the Probate Court highlights a core flaw in the Board’s argument to this Court. The Board devotes huge portions of its opening brief to discussing its belief that various state and national banking laws support its arguments here. (*E.g.*, Board’s Br. at 13–20.) But those banking laws are fundamentally irrelevant to the fiduciary services that are in dispute, and the total mismatch between the Board’s argument and the fiduciary roles played by CDM and Guardian underscores the correctness of Judge Crosby’s plain-language reading of the phrase “trust business.”

<sup>4</sup> As Mr. Mantell explained in his affidavit, he uses the corporate form to obtain insurance coverage, not for some nefarious reason, as implied by the Board’s appellate argument: “Operating through my company, instead of individually, allows me to obtain insurance. This insurance benefits me personally, but also benefits my clients.” (R. p. 199; Mantell Aff. ¶ 7.)

The Court should not credit the Board’s portrayal of this as a lawless situation that demands an agency’s urgent involvement. For one, the Board does not allege that CDM or Guardian have done anything inconsistent with any standard or expectation of a fiduciary in any respect. Instead, the source of this litigation appears to be little more than CDM and Guardian’s failure to pay a \$15,000 application fee and annual \$19,600 “supervisory fee” to the Board, and their refusal to voluntarily subject themselves to the Board’s jurisdiction. (R. p. 209; Judge Carter Aff. ¶ 14.)

But more fundamentally, it is not credible to suggest that CDM, Guardian, or anyone else performing fiduciary services unrelated to trusts can simply slip through the cracks. When the Probate Court appoints CDM, Guardian, or anyone else to serve as a guardian, or a conservator, or a personal representative, it retains jurisdiction over that appointee and has full authority to monitor and penalize the appointee should it breach its fiduciary responsibilities. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-112 (“The inherent power of the court to impose penalties for contempt extends to all filing requirements, proceedings, judgments, and orders of the court.”).<sup>5</sup>

And the Probate Court does not simply appoint fiduciaries blindly. The General Assembly has created criteria to govern the appointment process, as well as to direct and monitor the actual functions of each category of fiduciary, including *inter alia* guardians, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 62-5-201 to -310, *id.* §§ 62-5-701 to -716; conservators, *id.* §§ 62-5-401 to -431; and agents acting through healthcare powers of attorney, *id.* §§ 62-5-501 to -518.

None of these statutes require a commercial entity to be certified as a “trust business” under the Banking Code before the Probate Court can appoint it to serve in a fiduciary role unrelated to

---

<sup>5</sup> Judge Carter’s affidavit provides first-hand insight into how the Probate Court “operates to effectively oversee the and regulate the appointment and responsibilities of guardians, conservators, attorneys-in-fact, and personal representatives.” (R. p. 209; Judge Carter Aff. ¶ 20.)

a trust. But once it is appointed, the fiduciary subjects itself to the ongoing authority of the Probate Court to supervise its work.

Not only does the Probate Court have inherent authority over the fiduciaries it appoints, the common law recognizes a private cause of action for breaching a fiduciary duty. *See generally Bennett v. Estate of King*, 436 S.C. 614, 626–27, 875 S.E.2d 46, 52–53 (2022) (analyzing a claim for breach of fiduciary duty that arose in the context of a personal representative’s conduct after being appointed by the Probate Court, and listing numerous cases where a breach had been affirmed).

Accordingly, the Board’s dire forecast of unchecked rogue behavior by fiduciaries in the event the Court does not reverse Judge Crosby’s plain-language reading of the phrase “trust business” is unfounded. South Carolina law has redundancies built in to ensure faithful and prudent conduct by non-trustee fiduciaries and to impose consequences by the Probate Court and injured plaintiffs if fiduciaries breach their responsibilities.

If the Board believes that it, too, should be allowed to regulate and supervise the conduct of fiduciaries who are not administering trusts, it should so persuade the General Assembly, not this Court. Thus far, the Legislature has not given that broad jurisdiction to the Board, and Judge Crosby’s ruling on this point should be affirmed.

**IV. The Board’s alternative argument is not preserved and is incorrect as a matter of law.**

The Board concludes its opening brief with a brand new argument: that each of the fiduciary roles that CDM and Guardian perform under direction of the Probate Court essentially amount to being a “trustee,” and that this Court should declare that CDM and Guardian are therefore in a “trust business.” (Board Br. at 29–31.) This is the first time the Board has made such an argument in this case, and it is therefore improper and should not be considered. *See, e.g.,*

*Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”).<sup>6</sup>

But even if the Court takes up this argument, the Board’s position fails. The Board’s argument essentially suggests that any type of fiduciary is, in a sense, a “trustee” because it is operating for the benefit of another. But this is a generic gloss on a specific statutory term.

A “trust business” involves administering a “trust,” just as Judge Crosby held. And CDM and Guardian’s various fiduciary roles created and governed by the Probate Code are specifically distinct from “trusts.” *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-201(49) (defining “trust” for purposes of the Probate Code and providing that the term “excludes” certain categories of fiduciary, including *inter alia* conservatorships, personal representatives, certain custodial arrangements, “and any arrangement under which a person is nominee or escrowee for another”).

Accordingly, the Board’s argument that serving as a conservator, a personal representative, or other non-trustee fiduciary roles is effectively the same as administering a trust fails as a matter of law. The Court should reject this unpreserved argument as a result.

---

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